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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Austin Stein, the appellant below, asks this Court to review 

the Court of Appeals opinion referred to in section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Stein requests review of the Court of Appeals decision in 

State v. Stein, COA No. 71531-3-1, filed March 21, 2016. A copy of 

the decision is attached to this petition as an appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Petitioner was charged with murder. He claimed that 

he was the victim of an attack and responded in lawful self­

defense. There were no eyewitnesses to the event. Two 

prosecution witnesses - a sheriff's deputy and a veteran detective 

-were each permitted to express opinions that, based on their vast 

experiences dealing with crime victims, petitioner did not act like 

the victim following the event. While recognizing the impropriety of 

these opinions on petitioner's guilt, the Court of Appeals refused to 

order a new trial. Is petitioner entitled to a new trial under the 

analysis set forth in this Court's prior decisions? 

2. Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because 

the Court of Appeals' analysis conflicts with prior decisions of this 

Court addressing improper opinions on guilt? 
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3. The defense theory was that the deceased was a 

racist and petitioner's status as an African American provided a 

motive for him to attack petitioner and made it far more likely he 

was the aggressor in the fray. A key element of this argument was 

proof of the deceased's swastika tattoo, which he had maintained 

on his body for decades. The Court of Appeals held that, while 

relevant to petitioner's defense, the risk of unfair prejudice to the 

prosecution meant the evidence could be excluded. Was petitioner 

denied his constitutional right to present evidence in his favor? 

4. Is review of this issue appropriate under RAP 

13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with 

prior decisions of this Court? 

5. Did the cumulative impact of these serious 

constitutional errors violate petitioner's right to a fair trial? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Trial Proceedings 

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged Austin Stein 

with Murder in the Second Degree in connection with the November 

4, 2012 death of Bill Smith. CP 1-6. 
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Evidence at trial1 revealed that on November 3, 2012, Stein 

and an acquaintance - Anthony Hedin - stopped by Smith's trailer. 

10RP 21; 14RP 122. Smith was drunk and accused Stein of making 

a pass at his girlfriend, whom also was present. 10RP 21-23, 39; 

13RP 23-24, 27-31; 14RP 122-124, 126. Smith began screaming at 

Stein, repeatedly called him a nigger, and told him to leave, 

eventually grabbing a hammer and threatening to strike both Stein 

and Hedin. 10RP 23-24, 40-42; 13RP 31-33; 14RP 126-129. 

The following morning, Smith called Hedin, said he had 

been drunk, and apologized. 10RP 27-28, 43, 47; 13RP 37. He 

also invited the men over for another drink. 1 ORP 28. Hedin told 

Stein about the call, and Stein headed back over to Smith's trailer. 

10RP 47; 14RP 133. There were no third-party witnesses to what 

occurred next. Smith was drinking again. 14RP 135, 138. 

According to Stein, Smith received a phone call that seemed to 

upset him.2 14RP 141. When Stein asked Smith if he was alright, 

Smith responded, "you don't fuckin' talk to me like that" and 

A more comprehensive statement of the evidence can be found in the 
Court of Appeals briefing. See Brief of Appellant, at 2-13. 

2 Smith's girlfriend called him that day and said she no longer wished to 
talk to him because of his behavior the night before. 13RP 38, 45. 
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approached in an aggressive fashion. 14RP 142-143. As Stein 

stood up, Smith hit him in the head, causing him to fall. 14RP 143. 

According to Stein, Smith attempted to hit him some more 

while Stein tried to push him away. 14RP 143. Smith then shouted, 

"I am going to blow your fucking head off, nigger," and started 

heading for the front of the trailer. 14RP 144. Believing Smith was 

going to retrieve a gun and shoot him, Stein grabbed Smith from 

behind and pulled him back toward the middle of the trailer and onto 

the floor. 14RP 144-147. Stein was scared, angry, and confused 

about what was happening. 14RP 149. The two fought, with both 

men yelling and cursing, temporarily getting to their feet, and then 

going to the floor again. Both men threw punches, and Stein 

continued to strike Smith until he noticed blood. 14RP 147-150. 

Everything was foggy thereafter. 14RP 150. Stein was not 

sure whether Smith was still alive, although he had not intended to 

kill him. 14RP 151. Smith's trailer was located on property owned 

by another individual, and Stein summoned that individual by 

knocking on a back window to his home. 1 ORP 58-59; 14RP 152. 

Stein was mumbling, panicky, talking in circles, and not making 

much sense, although he referenced a fight. 10RP 62, 81-82. 

Stein's bizarre behavior continued as he interacted with others, 
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including law enforcement officers called to the scene. 1 ORP 30, 48-

50, 63-67, 74-77, 86-87, 105, 111-112, 171-173, 177, 184-185. 

An autopsy revealed that Smith had bruising and abrasions 

on various parts of his body. 12RP 107-113, 118-119, 127. He also 

had broken ribs, with corresponding bruises on his lungs, and 

multiple lacerations on the face and scalp. 12RP 114-116, 125-127, 

134-135. Smith suffered a skull fracture of the type usually 

associated with a blow that would have required significant force. 

12RP 136-137. The mechanism of death was blunt force injury to 

the head. 12RP 142-143, 146. The medical examiner could not say 

whether injuries to Smith's arms were defensive; nor could he assign 

blame for Smith's death. 12RP 151-152, 155. 

Blood spatter analysis inside the trailer proved difficult 

because it was conducted after the trailer had been moved from the 

original site, causing items to shift and fall on top of stains. 11 RP 

175-176; 12RP 34, 41. Although the spatter analyst could conclude 

Smith was near the floor at some point during the incident and that it 

was a "dynamic scene" with a lot of commotion, she could not say 

who started the fight or how long it lasted. 12RP 81-85. 

Closing arguments revealed the divergent prosecution and 

defense theories of the case. The State noted the main issue for 
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jurors was whether self-defense had been disproved beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 15RP 13. The State theorized that Stein still had 

hard feelings about being called a nigger the night before, he and 

Smith got into an argument again the next day, and Stein attacked 

and killed Smith. 15RP 30-32. The State also argued that even if 

Smith threatened to shoot Stein, Stein's use of force in response 

was not reasonable or necessary. 15RP 10, 33-35, 72-73. 

The defense argued that Smith was drunk when Stein 

stopped by his trailer, still upset with Stein from events the night 

before, and blamed Stein for the fact Smith's girlfriend had just called 

and broken off their relationship. 15RP 40-42. Counsel asked jurors 

to conclude that, in light of Smith's physical attack on Stein and his 

threat to shoot Stein, Stein acted reasonably in defending himself. 

15RP 36-37, 42-50, 67-70. 

To bolster its version of events, the State offered the 

opinions of two veteran law enforcement officers on the issue of 

whether Stein was really the victim who had acted in self-defense. 

The first was King County Sheriff's Deputy Eric Gagnon, who 

testified to his extensive experience dealing with trauma victims 

and "the targets of ... violent crime." 10RP 197. 
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Q: And can you tell us, please, what has been your experience 
with them? Is there a standard response that they all have? 
Are they all different? Is there a - a - a - common thread 
that you see among these people? 

A: Normally when somebody is - has just been involved in a 
trauma, let's say a family member has passed away or they 
have been a victim of a horrendous crime, they're looking for 
help. They want - and just because of our societ - our 
cultural and our society, they look-

Defense: I'm going to object. 

Witness: --people-

Court: Overruled. 

A: They look for people who represent help. Nurses, police 
officers, fire fighters and so on and so forth. They normally 
have a difficult time making decisions that help them in the 
immediate sense, meaning they're kind of -- they're in a -­
they are in a state where they are, you know, almost locked 
and that's why they're looking for somebody to help them 
through that immediate circumstance. 

10RP 197-198. 

Q: Was there anything about your interactions with [Stein] that 
reminded you of your interactions with people who have 
been victims of traumatic crime? 

A: They're - they're not consistent with each other. He was 
acting opposite of what I have experience in from trauma 
victims. 

10RP 200. 
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The second witness to offer an opinion on whether Stein 

was truly the victim in this case was King County Sheriff's Detective 

Jeanne Walford, whose testimony was presented via recorded 

deposition. Exhibit 20; 11RP 157-161. Walford detailed her 

significant experience dealing with thousands of victims of violent 

crime over the course of 17 years. Exhibit 20, at 1:44:10-1:47:04. 

The State then asked her how Stein compared: 

Q: In your experience, was there anything about what he was 
doing that was consistent with what you've seen from others 
who have been victims or witnesses of violent or traumatic 
crimes? 

A: Well, he didn't act like a victim. 

Exhibit 20, at 1:48:04-1 :48:58; CP 253. 

A second important issue at trial was the exclusion of 

defense evidence that Smith sported at least one, and perhaps 

two, swastika tattoos on his body. 2RP 24; 3RP 26. The defense 

pointed out that Smith had injected race into the case when he 

called Stein a nigger. That Smith had a swastika tattoo was 

relevant to his intent, his motive to attack Smith, and to establish he 

was the first aggressor. 2RP 24-25; 3RP 19, 27. Defense counsel 

also pointed out that any improper prejudice could be handled with 

a limiting instruction. 3RP 26. The court excluded the evidence, 
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finding its. relevance too attenuated - given that Smith apparently 

got the tattoo when he was a much younger man - and because 

the court worried about prejudice to the prosecution. 3RP 25-26. 

2. Court of Appeals 

The Court of Appeals agreed that Deputy Gagnon's and 

Detective Walford's opinions that Stein was not acting like a victim 

were improper opinions on Stein's guilt. Slip Op., at 6-9. But the 

Court found the constitutional violations harmless. Slip Op., at 9-12. 

The Court also agreed that Smith's swastika tattoo was relevant 

evidence at Stein's trial. Slip op., at 12-14. But the Court found the 

evidence properly precluded because "[s]ome jurors would have 

such a strong emotional reaction to the swastika tattoo that it would 

override their ability to decide the case rationally." Slip op., at 14-15. 

E. ARGUMENT 

THE COURT OF APPEALS' ANALYSIS CONFLICTS WITH 
PRIOR DECISIONS BY THIS COURT 

1. Opinions On Stein's Guilt 

"No witness, lay or expert, may testify to his opinion as to the 

guilt of a defendant, whether by direct statement or inference." 

State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). This 

prohibition stems from the Sixth Amendment to the United States 
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Constitution and article 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution, 

which guarantee the right to a fair trial before an impartial trier of 

fact. A witness's opinion as to the defendant's guilt, even by mere 

inference, violates this right by invading the province of the jury. 

State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 199, 340 P.3d 213, 217 (2014); 

State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 594, 183 P.3d 267 (2008); 

State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). 

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that Deputy 

Gagnon's and Detective Walford's opinions that Stein was not 

acting like the victim of a traumatic event violated Stein's 

constitutional rights. But in finding the error harmless, the Court of 

Appeals did not properly apply the applicable standard. 

Because the improper opinions violated Stein's federal and 

state constitutional rights, a new trial was required unless the State 

could demonstrate the improper opinions were harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt, i.e., any reasonable juror would have reached 

the same result absent the errors. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d at 201-202. 

Here, the witnesses were law enforcement officers, meaning 

their testimony carried an "aura of reliability" with jurors. 

Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 595 (quoting Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 

765). Deputy Gagnon and Detective Walford knew how an actual 
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crime victim acted and Stein had not acted like one. These improper 

opinions were critical because the State had no witness who actually 

saw what occurred inside the trailer and could speak to whether 

Stein had acted in self-defense. The improper opinions went to the 

core issue in the case - the identity of the true victim - and were 

used to convince jurors that Stein was the attacker rather than a 

victim forced to defend himself. During closing argument, the 

prosecutor even reminded jurors of these improper opinions: "To a 

person, the police who have dealt with victims of trauma say this was 

unlike any traumatized person they've ever seen before... 15RP 16. 

In nonetheless denying Stein a new trial, the Court of Appeals 

found that the expert opinions that Stein was not acting like a victim 

"contributed little .. because both officers properly testified to Stein's 

unusual demeanor and conduct at the scene, which also suggested 

Stein was not acting like a victim without running afoul of 

constitutional prohibitions. Slip op., at 10. In the Court of Appeals' 

view, so long as there was properly admitted evidence from which 

jurors could conclude Stein was not acting like the victim, that expert 

law enforcement officers then gave their own expert opinions that 

Stein was not acting like the victim (even where this was the primary 

trial issue) mattered not. The Court of Appeals cites nothing 
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supporting this conclusion, which seems to undermine significantly 

this Court's warnings in cases such as Quaale, Montgomery, and 

Demery regarding the prejudice from such opinions. 

The Court of Appeals also relied on the fact jurors were told 

they did not have to accept the opinions of witnesses, including 

those with special training. Slip op., at 10. Of course, since defense 

counsel's objections to the improper opinions were overruled, jurors 

were also free to accept these opinions. And why wouldn't they 

accept the opinions of two law enforcement officers who obviously 

knew an "actual victim" when they saw one? 

The Court of Appeals also purported to rely on the physical 

evidence, noting that Stein had no visible injuries, that he failed to 

testify "that he stopped beating Smith as soon as the danger 

passed," and the tremendous amount of force used against Smith. 

Slip op., at 11-12. But there was no third-party witness to any of the 

events in the trailer. And if jurors believed Stein's testimony that 

Smith threatened to get a gun and blow his head off (regardless 

whether Smith actually owned a gun), they also could have found his 

use of force warranted under the circumstances. In such a case, two 

seasoned police officers testifying they knew how actual victims of 
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trauma look, and that Stein did not look like one, could make the 

difference in one or more jurors' verdicts. 

The Court of Appeals relied on speculation and conjecture 

rather than requiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt that any 

reasonable juror would have reached the same result. Review is 

appropriate under RAP 13.4(b )(1) because the Court of Appeals 

analysis conflicts with decisions by this Court on opinions on guilt. 

2. Right To Present Relevant Evidence 

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to present 

relevant evidence in their own defense. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 

713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (201 0). This Court requires a three-

pronged test to determine whether proposed evidence must be 

admitted: 

First, the evidence must be of at least minimal 
relevance. Second, if relevant, the burden is on the 
State to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to 
disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial. 
Finally, the State's interest to exclude prejudicial 
evidence must be balanced against the defendant's 
need for the information sought, and only if the 
State's interest outweighs the defendant's need can 
otherwise relevant information be withheld. 

State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 622, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). There 

is one additional and important caveat. Where evidence is highly 

probative, "'it appears no state interest can be compelling enough 
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to preclude its introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment 

and Const. art. 1, § 22."' Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720 (quoting State 

v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16,659 P.2d 514 (1983)). 

As an initial matter, the Court of Appeals agreed that 

evidence of Smith's swastika tattoo was relevant. Slip op., at 14 

("the State conceded at oral argument that the tattoo was at least 

minimally relevant"). The State's concession did not go far enough, 

however. The evidence was not just relevant; it was highly probative. 

Evidence of an individual's hostility toward a particular racial 

group or member of that racial group is relevant to motive and intent. 

State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 822-824, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). That 

Smith obtained his swastika tattoo at a relatively young age and kept 

it on his body all these many years demonstrated continuing and, 

most importantly, current racial animosity. Without evidence of the 

tattoo, it would have been relatively easy for jurors to conclude that 

Smith's use of a racial epithet the night before his death was merely 

the product of jealously and alcohol and that his apology the 

following morning better reflected his actual view of Stein. 

The only other evidence of racial motive came from Stein's 

own testimony that, during the attack, Smith called him a nigger 

when he threatened to blow his head off and headed for the front of 
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the trailer. See 14RP 144. Without an additional corroborating 

witness, however, jurors may not have believed this version of 

events and, instead, attributed it to the imagination of a defendant 

with every motive to bend the truth in his favor. The swastika tattoo 

made this version far more credible. It showed current racial bias 

and made it more likely Smith had a racial motive to attack Stein. It 

made it more likely Smith was the aggressor - just as Stein said -

and that Stein was then required to use substantial force to defend 

against a threat to his life. 

Because the tattoo evidence was of "high probative value," 

under this Court's decision in Jones, no State interest was 

sufficiently compelling to permit exclusion and the analysis should 

have ended there with admission of the evidence. See Jones, 168 

Wn.2d at 721, 723-24 (even if rape shield statute precluded 

evidence, because it was highly probative, Sixth Amendment 

required its admission as part of defense case). 

But even if the evidence were merely characterized as 

"relevant," Stein had the right to present it under this Court's 

precedent. To exclude the evidence, the State had to demonstrate it 

was so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding 

process at trial. Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 622. On this point, the Court 
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of Appeals decided, "Some jurors would have such a strong 

emotional reaction to the swastika tattoo that it would override their 

ability to decide the case rationally. Therefore, the swastika tattoo 

was prejudicial." Slip op., at 14-15. 

This analysis conflicts with Darden, Jones, and every other 

decision from this Court setting forth the proper test. The question is 

not whether evidence of the tattoo was prejudicial. Stein concedes a 

risk that some jurors might be tempted to conclude that because 

Smith was a racist, he was more likely to be the aggressor in this 

case. Rather, the proper question is whether "the evidence is so 

prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at 

trial." Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 622. The answer to that question is no. 

As discussed at trial and in Stein's briefing on appeal 

(although strangely omitted from the Court of Appeals analysis), any 

risk that jurors might use evidence of the tattoo for an improper 

purpose could have been dealt with using a limiting instruction. See 

3RP 26; Brief of Appellant, at 25-26; Reply Brief of Appellant, at 9-

11. Jurors are presumed to follow such instructions even when, for 

example, they are faced with substantial evidence of multiple prior 

sex offenses against multiple prior victims and considering a current 

sex offense. State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 850-852, 864, 889 
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P.2d 487 (1995). If the presumption holds true under that scenario, 

it certainly would hold true concerning evidence of a swastika tattoo. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals weighed the State's interest to 

exclude prejudicial evidence against Stein's need for the evidence 

in support of his defense. Slip op., at 15. Regarding Stein's need, 

the Court reasoned, "[t]he tattoo would only have added to Stein's 

argument that he killed Smith as he defended himself from Smith's 

racially motivated attack," as if this were something insignificant. 

ld. In fact, this was the defense case. 

The Court also pointed out that witnesses heard Smith call 

Stein a nigger the previous night and Stein was able to testify that 

Smith used the racial slur again during the fray. ld. As already 

discussed, however, this evidence was too easily dismissed as the 

rantings of an intoxicated and jealous boyfriend (who did not really 

mean it and apologized) or the fictional testimony of a defendant 

trying to avoid conviction for homicide. There was no adequate 

substitute for the tattoo as an objective reflection of Smith's current 

opinion of Stein as a black man and therefore his motive, intent, and 

identity as the aggressor. And any temptation jurors might have had 

to use the tattoo as evidence of Smith's general bad character could 

have been adequately contained with a proper limiting instruction. 
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There is nothing so unique about a swastika tattoo that precludes its 

consideration where relevant to the defense in a homicide case. 

There appears to be a double standard at play. Although 

the right to present relevant evidence is constitutionally guaranteed 

only to criminal defendants, it seems that when the prosecution 

seeks to use a defendant's tattoos as evidence of guilt on the 

current charge, the evidence is deemed admissible despite the 

prejudicial impact such evidence has concerning the defendant's 

character and general propensities. See State v. Deleon, 185 Wn. 

App. 171, 191-194, 341 P.3d 315 (2014) (although tattoo evidence 

showing gang affiliation inadmissible to show defendant had been 

engaged in prior criminal activities, relevant as nonverbal 

admission of his involvement in current homicide); State v. Nelson, 

152 Wn. App. 755, 759-763, 219 P.3d 100 (2009) (defendant's 

tattoos depicting dog fighting admissible because they made it 

more likely defendant engaged in charged conduct surrounding 

animal fighting operation; defense free to offer benign reasons for 

tattoos), review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1028, 230 P.3d 1060 (201 0); 

State v. Kendrick, 47 Wn. App. 620, 625-628, 736 P.2d 1079 

(evidence of defendant's tattoos depicting macabre scenes 

admissible in homicide case involving mutilation despite a long 
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chain of inferences necessary to establish relevance and despite 

defense claims of unfair prejudice), review denied, 108 Wn.2d 

1024 (1987); see also State v. Barry, 184 Wn. App. 790, 802, 339 

P.3d 200 (2014) (although evidence that defendant had sprayed 

"KKK" on multiple properties carried risk that "jury's emotions could 

be so inflamed by a showing of racism that the jury used emotion .. 

. as a basis for conviction," no abuse of discretion in allowing 

prosecution to use such evidence against defendant). 

Similarly, when the prosecution seeks to use relevant 

evidence of prior bad acts that also carry a high risk jurors will use 

them as propensity or character evidence, the courts have every 

confidence a limiting instruction will suffice to protect the defendant's 

right to fair trial on the current charge. See, SLg., Lough, 125 Wn.2d 

at 864. But where, as here, the defense seeks to use highly relevant 

evidence that places the alleged victim in the same situation, the 

evidence is excluded for fear of its impact on the prosecution's case. 

The Court of Appeals' analysis and decision conflicts with 

Darden, Jones, and this Court's consistent opinions defining the 

breadth of the Sixth Amendment right to present evidence and 

setting forth the test applied to such evidence. It also conflicts with 

this Court's decisions, like Lough, recognizing the power of a limiting 
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instruction to ensure jurors only consider relevant evidence for its 

intended and proper purpose. Review is appropriate under RAP 

13.4(b)(1 ). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Stein respectfully asks for review and a new trial. 

DATED this zo-tJ. day of April, 2016. 

Respectfully submitted, 

I BROMAN & KO~ 

~0. )~~ 
DAVID B. KOCH, WSBA N0.237'89 
Office ID No. 91051 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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APPENDIX 



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
N 
c::t 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, ) 
c:r-
:X 

) No. 71531-3-1 > :;:o 

Respondent, ) N 

) DIVISION ONE 
v. ) 

~ 
:X 

) UNPUBLISHED OPINION '!? 
AUSTIN TYRONNE STEIN, ) .r:-

) 
N 

Appellant. ) FILED: March 21, 2016 

TRICKEY, J.- Witnesses may not offer opinions on the guilt of a criminal 

defendant. Here, two police officers testified that Austin Stein was not acting like 

a victim. Admitting those opinions was error because Stein claimed to act in self-

defense. But this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because of the 

overwhelming untainted evidence of Stein's guilt. Holding that Stein's other 

challenges fail as well, we affirm. 

FACTS 

On November 3, 2012, Austin Stein accompanied Anthony Hedin to visit Bill 

Smith, who lived in a small trailer. It was a Saturday night, and Stein and Hedin 

joined Smith and his girlfriend Katarina Krogness for a few drinks. At some point, 

Stein made a comment to Krogness that Smith interpreted as flirtatious or 

inappropriate. Smith yelled at Stein, accused him of trying to "get at [his] girl," 

called him a "n[*****]," and told Stein to leave. 1 Stein and Hedin left the trailer and 

started walking away. Smith came out of the trailer, waiving a hammer above his 

head, swore at them, and told them to get off his property. They walked back to 

1 Report of Proceedings (RP) (Nov. 19, 2013) at 126-27. 
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No. 71531-3-1/2 

Hedin's house. The next morning, Smith called Hedin to apologize for his anger 

the night before. Smith invited Hedin to come over. 

Smith's trailer was in Thomas Cummings and Jacquline Mead's backyard. 

As Cummings entered his house on November 4, the day after Smith and Stein's 

altercation, he noticed someone knocking on the windows at the back of the house. 

He went outside and found Stein, whom he had never met before. Stein was 

mumbling and hard to understand. 

At some point, as they were sitting in front of Cummings' house, Stein 

mentioned being in a fight with Smith. Cummings later realized Stein was 

describing the fight from the night before. He observed what he thought might be 

blood on Stein's shirt. Shortly after, a neighbor approached and suggested that 

Cummings check on Smith. Cummings entered Smith's trailer and found Smith's 

blood-covered body. He called 911 and had his neighbor and Mead detain Stein 

until the police arrived. 

When the police arrived, they arrested Stein. The State charged Stein with 

murder in the second degree, committed while attempting assault in the second 

degree. 

At trial, the medical examiner testified about the extent of Smith's injuries. 

Smith had injuries to his torso and arms that were consistent with, but not 

conclusively, defensive wounds. The blows to Smith's chest were made with 

enough force to break Smith's ribs and bruise his lungs. There were several 

lacerations on Smith's face, around both eyebrows and into the soft tissue of his 

ear. There had been at least three blows to the side and back of Smith's head, 
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separate from those that caused the injuries to his face. The blows to Smith's head 

broke his skull nearly in half. The medical examiner determined that these blows 

were the cause of death. But the medical examiner could not determine the timing 

of any of these blows, or whether the fatal injury was caused by just one blow or 

by the combination of blows. 

Detective Jeanne Walford photographed Stein's face and body back at the 

police station and saw no injuries. At the time of Smith's death, Stein was 26 years 

old and weighed 230 pounds. Smith was 5 feet 9 inches tall and weighed 

approximately 150 pounds. 

A forensic expert analyzed the blood splatters within the trailer. Noting that 

the blood splatters were low to the ground, including on the underside of a short 

table, she concluded that the blood-letting incident had occurred on the ground or 

very low to the ground. Therefore, Smith was likely on the ground, or very low to 

the ground, during most of the blows. 

Stein claimed he acted in self-defense. He testified about his interaction 

with Smith that afternoon. Realizing he had an hour to wait for his next bus, Stein 

said he went over to Smith's to reconcile. The two were drinking and talking about 

football when Smith went outside to take a phone call. Smith was muttering to 

himself as he came back inside. 

Stein asked Smith if he was all right, and Smith started swearing at him. 

When Stein stood up, Smith punched him in the head. Smith continued to swing 

at Stein, causing Stein to fall over. At some point, Smith told Stein, "I'm going to 
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blow your f[***]ing head off, you n[*****]."2 Believing that Smith was going to get a 

gun, Stein tried to stop him and both men fell to the ground. Stein's memory of the 

fight is hazy, but, eventually, he saw blood and stopped fighting. Stein did not 

believe there was an opportunity for him to run away during the fight. 

A jury convicted Stein of murder in the second degree. He appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

0Rinions on Guilt 

Stein argues that the trial court erred by allowing the State's witnesses to 

invade the province of the jury. Specifically, he claims that the police officers' 

opinions that he was not acting like a victim in the aftermath of his violent 

confrontation with Smith were improper opinions on guilt. We hold that it was error 

to admit the testimony in question, but that the error was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 

A criminal defendant's constitutional right to a jury trial includes the right to 

have the jury determine the facts. State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 

1278 (2001). Therefore, although witnesses may offer opinions that embrace an 

ultimate issue, they may not state personal opinions of a defendant's guilt directly 

or by inference. ER 704; State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). 

To determine whether testimony on an ultimate issue constitutes an improper 

opinion on guilt, we examine "'(1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific 

nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and 

(5) the other evidence before the trier of fact."' State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 

2 RP (Nov. 19, 2013) at 144. 
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577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Demery, 

144 Wn.2d at 759). Because police officers, like the prosecution, represent the 

State, their opinions are "especially likely" to influence the jury. Demery, 144 

Wn.2d at 762. 

Here, Detective Walford and Deputy Eric Gagnon, who both have had 

experience with trauma victims, testified about their interaction with Stein during 

his arrest. At trial, the State asked Deputy Gagnon to describe his experiences 

with victims of violent crime: 

[Prosecutor]: And can you tell us, please, what has been your 
experience with them? Is there a standard response that they all 
have? Are they all different? Is there a-- a-- a --common thread 
that you see among these people? 

[Deputy Gagnon]: Normally when somebody is - has just 
been involved in a trauma, let's say a family member has passed 
away or they have been a victim of a horrendous crime, they're 
looking for help. They want-- and just because of our societ [sic]-­
our cultural and our society, they look -

[Defense]: I'm going to object. 

[Deputy Gagnon]: -- people -­

[The Court]: Overruled. 

[Deputy Gagnon]: They look for people who represent help. 
Nurses, police officers, fire fighters and so on and so forth. They 
really have a difficult time making decisions that help them in the 
immediate sense, meaning they're kind of -- they're in a -- they are 
in a state where they are, you know, almost locked and that's why 
they're looking for somebody to help them through that immediate 
circumstance.131 

After Deputy Gagnon described his interactions with Stein that night, the 

3 RP (Nov. 12, 2013) at 197-98. 
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State asked him to compare his experience with trauma victims to his encounter 

with Stein: 

[Prosecutor]: Was there anything about your interactions with 
him that reminded you of your interactions with people who have 
been victims of traumatic crime? 

[Deputy Gagnon]: They're-- they're not consistent with each 
other. He was acting [the] opposite of what I have experience in from 
trauma victims.t4l 

The State played Detective Walford's videotaped deposition testimony at 

trial. Detective Walford described her experience with "thousands" of trauma 

victims. 5 The State asked her the following question: 

[Prosecutor]: In your experience, was there anything about 
what he was doing that was consistent with what you've seen from 
others who have been victims or witnesses of violent or traumatic 
crimes? 

[Detective Walford]: Well, he didn't act like a victim.l6l 

Under the Montgomery factors, both of these opinions were improper. Both 

witnesses were police officers, whose testimony might carry extra weight with the 

jury. The officers went beyond describing Stein's demeanor or behavior. They 

specifically stated he was not acting like a victim. Because Stein's defense was 

that he acted in self-defense, these were indirect comments on Stein's guilt. If 

Stein was not a victim, he was guilty. 

Stein's claim to be a victim was critical in this case. No third parties 

witnessed the encounter between Smith and Stein that night. Stein had no 

4 RP (Nov. 12, 2013) at 200. 
5 Clerk's Papers (CP) at 250-51. 
6 CP at 253. 
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physical evidence to corroborate his self-defense claim. Although the court did not 

address the propriety of referring to Stein as a victim, its order in limine, that no 

one should refer to Smith as the victim in this case, underscores the importance 

attached to the label"victim."7 

The State cites several cases where courts have allowed opinion testimony 

about a defendant's behavior or demeanor if the testimony is directly and logically 

supported by personal observations. In State v. Day, the court approved police 

officers' opinions that the defendant's "reaction was 'inappropriate,' [which] were 

logically based on their observations that [the defendant] had shown 'very little 

emotion,' ... and that he did not ask questions the officers expected." 51 Wn. 

App. 544, 552, 754 P .2d 1021 (1988). In State v. Allen, a detective was allowed 

to testify that he believed the defendant's grief was insincere based on her '"facial 

expression, the lack of tears, [and] the lack of any redness in her face."' 50 Wn. 

App. 412, 418-19, 749 P.2d 702 (1988). Similarly, in State v. Craven, an 

emergency room social worker was allowed to offer her opinion that the 

defendant's behavior was unusual, which was based on the defendant's inability 

to make eye contact, lack of crying, and appearing withdrawn. 69 Wn. App. 581, 

585-86, 849 P.2d 681 (1993). 

But, in each of those cases, the jury could believe the witness but still find 

the defendant not guilty. Having an inappropriate reaction to the death or injury of 

a loved one, while damaging to the defense, does not necessarily lead to a finding 

of guilt. Here, the officers' opinions, if believed, could mean only that Stein was 

7 RP (Oct. 30, 2013) at 42; CP at 30. 
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guilty. As mentioned above, Stein did not deny killing Smith - his only defense 

was that Smith initiated the attack. Therefore, if Stein was not a victim, he was 

guilty. 

The State also cites State v. Crenshaw, which is more factually similar but 

is also distinguishable. 27 Wn. App. 326, 332, 617 P.2d 1041 (1980). There, the 

defendant argued not guilty by reason of insanity, but the trial court allowed a 

witness to opine that the defendant "'seemed very normal'" when he borrowed an 

ax from her during the middle of his violent attack. Crenshaw, 27 Wn. App. at 332. 

In that case, the defense objected to the foundation of her testimony, not that it 

was an improper opinion on guilt. 

State v. Aguirre is instructive. 168 Wn.2d 350, 356, 359-60, 229 P.3d 669 

(201 0). There, a police officer testified about her interview with an alleged victim 

of domestic violence. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 359-61. The defendant argued that 

the officer, who described the "general demeanor of victims of sexual assault and 

domestic violence" and then described the demeanor of the alleged victim, gave 

an impermissible opinion on guilt. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 356, 359-60. The 

Supreme Court disagreed based on the fact that the officer "limited her testimony 

to objective observations of the victim during their interview as compared to other 

victims whom [shel had interviewed during her lengthy criminal justice career" and 

"refrained from stating or implying that the victim had been a victim of domestic 

violence." Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 360. Thus, the officer's "testimony was likely 

helpful to the jury in evaluating for themselves" whether the crime had occurred. 

Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d at 360. 
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Here, the officers did not limit their testimony to descriptions of trauma 

victims and descriptions of Stein's behavior. Rather, the witnesses expressly 

testified that Stein was "acting [the] opposite of what [Deputy Gagnon had] 

experience in from trauma victims" and that Stein "didn't act like a victim."8 The 

officers' testimony crossed the line drawn by Aguirre. 

The State also argues that the opinion testimony from Deputy Gagnon and 

Detective Walford was proper because it was necessary to rebut Stein's expert 

witness's testimony. We reject this argument because the police officers' 

testimony encompassed subjects that the expert was prohibited from addressing 

and, regardless, the State was able to effectively rebut Stein's expert's testimony 

during cross-examination. 

Stein presented an expert who testified that Stein's uncooperative behavior 

during the arrest, and his failure to tell the police at that time that he had acted in 

self-defense, could have been because he was suffering from acute stress after 

the incident with Smith, a fairly common response to trauma. The expert was not 

permitted to say that Stein's behavior was consistent with self-defense, and never 

testified that Stein had been a victim. During cross-examination, the expert agreed 

"that people who kill in anger frequently suffer from stress reaction[s]" and that 

Stein's stress could have been in response to killing Smith, rather than a response 

to defending himself from Smith's attack.9 

The admission of improper opinion testimony invades the province of the 

jury and is thus constitutional error. State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 201-202, 

8 RP (Nov. 12, 2013) at 200; CP at 253. 
9 RP (Nov. 19, 2013) at 56-57. 
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340 P.3d 213 (2014). "A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is 

assured beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict cannot be attributed to the 

error." State v. Lui, 179 Wn.2d 457, 495, 315 P.3d 493 (2014), cert. denied, 134 

S. Ct. 2842, 189 L. Ed. 2d 810 (2014). We will uphold the verdict if the untainted 

evidence is so overwhelming that it "necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." State 

v. Anderson, 171 Wn.2d 764,770,254 P.3d 815 (2011). 

Here, the use of the word "victim" contributed little to the officers' testimony. 

The officers' permissible testimony about Stein's demeanor, that he was 

manipulative, evasive, and uncooperative, strongly suggests that Stein was not 

behaving like the victims the police were used to encountering. Further, the court's 

jury instruction limited the impact of the officers' testimony: 

A witness who has special training, education, or experience 
may be allowed to express an opinion in addition to giving testimony 
as to facts. 

You are not, however, required to accept his or her opinion. 
To determine the credibility and weight to be given to this type of 
evidence, you may consider, among other things, the education, 
training, experience, knowledge, and ability of the witness. You may 
also consider the reasons given for the opinion and the sources of 
his or her information, as well as considering the factors already 
given to you for evaluating the testimony of any other witness.t101 

This instruction lessens the chance that the verdict was attributable to those 

opinions. 

The officers' comments that Stein was a victim might have impacted Stein's 

credibility, but the jury heard other, untainted, evidence that would also have 

negatively impacted Stein's credibility. Stein did not tell any of the civilians or 

police officers he spoke to on the night of Smith's death that he had killed Smith in 

1° CP at 124. 
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self-defense. Cummings testified that Stein first explained the blood on his shirt 

by saying that he had been in a fight with Hedin in the woods behind a Safeway 

store. Stein told Cummings' neighbor that he had stopped in front of the house 

because he saw all the people and thought there was a party. He told police that 

he was in the area because he had gone to smoke marijuana at someone's house. 

Stein also told the police that Smith was upright and uninjured when he left the 

trailer. 

Moreover, the physical evidence did not corroborate Stein's version of 

events. Stein claimed that Smith punched him with so much force that he fell 

against the side of the trailer. He described himself as fending off Smith's blows, 

and both men fighting on the ground. Yet, Stein had no scratches, bruises, or 

other injuries. Stein testified that Smith threatened to shoot him. No gun was found 

in the trailer. There is no evidence that Smith owned a gun. 

Even assuming that Stein believed that Smith had a gun somewhere in the 

trailer and would shoot him, Stein's use of force was unreasonable. Stein was 

much younger than Smith and outweighed him by about 80 pounds. But Stein 

claims that Smith was able to get up and resume swinging at Stein when Stein was 

"just trying to hold on to him so he [couldn't] move."11 Stein testified that he did not 

feel he had an opportunity to run, but he did not testify that he stopped beating 

Smith as soon as the danger passed. At some point, Stein saw blood and "just 

stopped."12 By that time, Stein had broken Smith's ribs with enough force to bruise 

the lungs, caused lacerations all over Smith's face, and hit Smith in the head at 

11 RP (Nov. 19, 2013) at 147. 
12 RP (Nov. 19, 2013} at 150. 
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least three times, with enough force to break the skull nearly in half. And the most 

serious of those blows came when Smith was on the ground or nearly on the 

ground. 

Satisfied that the jury's guilty verdict is not attributable to Deputy Gagnon's 

and Detective Walford's opinion testimony, and that any reasonable jury would 

necessarily have convicted Stein without that testimony, we hold that this error was 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Exclusion of Swastika Tattoo 

Stein also argues that the trial court denied him his constitutional right to 

present a defense by excluding evidence that Smith had at least one swastika 

tattoo. We conclude that the exclusion did not violate Stein's rights because the 

prejudicial effect of the tattoo evidence is much greater than Stein's need to use it. 

There are two threshold questions about this issue. First, whether the 

exclusion of the swastika tattoo testimony presents a constitutional or evidentiary 

question. Second, whether Stein properly preserved this issue below. If this is an 

evidentiary issue, Stein waived it by failing to renew his objection after the trial 

court made a tentative ruling excluding the tattoo. State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 

369, 869 P.2d 43 (1994). Assuming this is a constitutional question, Stein is 

correct that RAP 2.5(a)(3) would allow him to challenge the trial court's exclusion 

of Smith's swastika tattoo. 

The Sixth Amendment provides criminal defendants with the right to present 

a defense, which includes the right to "offer testimony." State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 

713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Courts use a "three-prong approach" for 

12 
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determining whether they must admit a criminal defendant's offered evidence: 

First, the evidence must be of at least minimal relevance. Second, if 
relevant, the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so 
prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial. 
Finally, the State's interest to exclude prejudicial evidence must be 
balanced against the defendant's need for the information sought, 
and only if the State's interest outweighs the defendant's need can 
otherwise relevant information be withheld. 

State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612,622,41 P.3d 1189 (2002). No State interest is 

compelling enough to compel the exclusion of evidence with "high probative value." 

Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 721. 

The defendant must first establish that his offered evidence is at least 

minimally relevant. Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the 

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more 

probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. 

Evidence of "a defendant's hostility toward his victims" may be probative of "motive 

and intent." State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 822-24, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Even 

hostility toward a racial group, rather than an individual person, may be relevant to 

a defendant's motive. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 822. 

Once the defendant shows that evidence is relevant, the State must show 

the evidence is unfairly prejudicial. Evidence creates a risk of unfair prejudice if it 

is "likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision." State 

v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 264, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). In State v. Barry, the court 

noted that pictures showing the defendant had spray-painted "KKK" on three 

different properties had a "potentially high danger of unfair prejudice" because of 

its racist implications. 184 Wn. App. 790, 802, 339 P.3d 200 (2014). 

13 
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If evidence is both relevant and prejudicial, the court needs to balance the 

defendant's need for the evidence against the State's interest in excluding it. The 

State has a compelling interest in ensuring a just trial and preventing an acquittal 

based on prejudice against the victims. State v. McDaniel, 83 Wn. App. 179, 187, 

920 P.2d 1218 (1996). 

We review claimed violations of the Sixth Amendment right to present a 

defense de novo. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 719. 

Smith's autopsy revealed that he had at least one swastika tattoo. 13 There 

is no evidence Stein was aware of the tattoo during his encounters with Smith. 

Stein argued that Smith's tattoo was relevant because it tended to show 

that Smith was the initial attacker, a material fact in this case. Stein argued that 

Smith's motive to attack him could have been that "a black young man [was] trying 

to take [Smith's] white - steal [Smith's] girlfriend."14 Stein contends that the 

swastika tattoo is relevant because, as a symbol of white supremacy, it makes it 

more likely that Smith would harbor racial animus. Despite arguing in its brief that 

the connection between Smith's swastika tattoo and any motive to attack Stein is 

too tenuous to be relevant, the State conceded at oral argument that the tattoo 

was at least minimally relevant. 

The State argues that evidence of Smith's swastika tattoo is extremely 

inflammatory and therefore prejudicial. We agree with the State that it would be 

difficult "to find a more reviled group to associate with than the Nazi party."15 Some 

13 Stein argues that there may have been two swastika tattoos but there is no evidence of 
a second tattoo in the record. 
14 RP (Oct. 31, 2013) at 27. 
15 Respondent's Br. at 37-38. 
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jurors would have such a strong emotional reaction to the swastika tattoo that it 

would override their ability to decide the case rationally. Therefore, the swastika 

tattoo was prejudicial. 

Finally, we weigh Stein's need for the information against the State's 

interest in ensuring that the trial is not based on prejudice. Stein's need for this 

evidence was low. This is not a case where the evidence would have been a 

complete defense to Stein's charge. The tattoo would only have added to Stein's 

argument that he killed Smith as he defended himself from Smith's racially-

motivated attack. 

But Stein did not need the tattoo to show Smith's racial animus. Stein was 

able to testify that Smith used the racial slur "n[*****]" when Smith confronted him 

the night before Smith's death, and when Smith attacked him in the trailer. 16 Nor 

did Stein need the swastika tattoo to corroborate Smith's use of racial slurs. Hedin, 

who was Smith's friend, admitted that Smith had called Stein a "n[*****]" the night 

before.17 

The swastika tattoo adds little to Stein's motive argument. On the other 

hand, the jury, upon learning that Smith had a swastika tattoo, would likely have 

condemned Smith as a racist. This view of Smith would have provoked a 

prejudicial response that damaged the jury's ability to make rational decisions. 

Therefore, the State's interest in excluding the tattoo outweighed Stein's need to 

introduce it. We hold that the trial court did not err by excluding the tattoo. 

16 RP (Nov. 19, 2013) at 127, 131, 144. 
17 RP (Nov. 12, 2013) at 42. 
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Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

Stein argues that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. He 

contends that his trial attorney's failure to ensure that the jury received an 

instruction on the use of deadly force was unreasonable, especially given the 

attorney's closing argument that Stein was allowed to use deadly force to defend 

himself if he believed Smith had a gun. Because Stein has not shown that this 

was unreasonable, we hold that Stein's trial counsel did not provide ineffective 

assistance. 

The Sixth Amendment guarantees criminal defendants the right to the 

assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684, 104 S. Ct. 

2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance, the 

defendant must first show that trial counsel's performance "fell below an objective 

standard of reasonableness," and second that the defendant was prejudiced by 

trial counsel's deficient performance. State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 

P.3d 916 (2009). If a party fails to satisfy either the deficiency or the prejudice 

prong, a reviewing court need not consider the other. State v. Foster, 140 Wn. 

App. 266, 273, 166 P.3d 726 (2007). 

To show deficient performance, the defendant must show that there was no 

"legitimate strategic or tactical reason" to explain trial counsel's act or failure to act. 

· Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 883. "[E]xceptional deference must be given when 

evaluating counsel's strategic decisions." State v. McNeal, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 

37 P.3d 280 (2002). 

16 
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To establish prejudice, a defendant must show by "a reasonable probability 

that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the outcome of the proceeding would 

have been different." State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 8, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007). 

We review claims of ineffective assistance of counsel de novo because the 

claims present mixed issues of fact and law. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 883. 

Stein argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request that 

the court instruct the jury on the use of deadly force, but nevertheless arguing that 

Stein would have been justified in using deadly force. Here, the court instructed 

the jury that people may use force in self-defense, but that the amount of force 

must be reasonable and not more than necessary: 

The use of force upon or toward the person of another is lawful 
when used by a person who reasonably believes that he is about to 
be injured, and when the force is not more than is necessary. 

The person using the force may employ such force and means 
as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar 
conditions as they appeared to the person, taking into consideration 
all of the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time of 
the incident.l181 

Stein claims that his attorney should have also requested Washington Pattern Jury 

Instruction 16.02, the instruction on the use of deadly force in self-defense: 

It is a defense to a charge of [murder] [manslaughter] that the 
homicide was justifiable as defined in this instruction. 

Homicide is justifiable when committed in the lawful defense of [the 
slayer] ... when: 

(1) the slayer reasonably believed that the person slain ... intended 
[to commit a felony] [to inflict death or great personal injury]; 

(2) the slayer reasonably believed that there was imminent danger 

18 CP at 136; 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: 
CRIMINAL 17.02, at 253 (3d ed. 2008). 
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of such harm being accomplished; and 

(3) the slayer employed such force and means as a reasonably 
prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as 
they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into consideration all 
the facts and circumstances as they appeared to [him] [her], at the 
time of [and prior to] the incident. 

During closing argument, Stein's trial counsel argued that, because Stein believed 

Smith had a gun, Stein would have been justified in using deadly force. This is 

consistent with both the more general self-defense instruction and the use of 

deadly force instruction. As the State points out, if a defendant feared substantial 

bodily harm or death, his use of deadly force would be reasonable under the 

instruction the court gave. 

Stein's trial attorney could reasonably have believed that two different 

instructions on self-defense would have confused the jury. The deadly force 

instruction, alone, might have appeared to the jury as a concession that Stein 

intentionally used deadly force, contrary to Stein's testimony at trial that he was 

not trying to kill Smith. Therefore, Stein's attorney's choice to have the court 

instruct the jury on only the more general theory of self-defense was not 

unreasonable. Similarly, we cannot say that his choice to argue that Stein was 

entitled to use deadly force was unreasonable based on the facts of this case and 

under the given instruction. 

Stein has not shown that his trial counsel's requested jury instructions, 

closing argument, or the combination of the two fell below reasonable standards. 

But, even assuming this was unreasonable, Stein has not shown that there is a 

reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different if his 

18 
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attorney had either requested the use of deadly force jury instruction or not made 

those arguments during closing. In short, Stein fails to show ineffective assistance 

of counsel. 

Cumulative Error 

Finally, Stein argues that even if any one of the alleged errors does not 

warrant reversal, their cumulative effect denied him a fair trial. "The accumulation 

of errors may deny the defendant a fair trial and therefore warrant reversal even 

where each error standing alone would not." State v. Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287, 345, 

290 P.3d 43 (2012). The defendant bears the burden of proving that the 

"accumulated prejudice affected the outcome of the trial." In re Pers. Restraint of 

Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 690, 327 P.3d 660 (2014). Because there was only one 

error, the cumulative error doctrine does not apply. 

Affirmed. 

WE CONCUR: 

'f;;ecke~, d:· 
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mayovskyp@nwattorney. net 
Wednesday, April20, 2016 2:04PM 
Sanders, Laurie; Dahlem, Susan 
Electronic Filing - Document Upload 
715313-20160420-020403.pdf; 715313-Petition for Review.pdf 

This is to inform you that Patrick P Mayavsky from Nielsen, Broman & Koch, PLLC has uploaded a document 
named "715313-Petition for Review.pdf." Please see the attached Transmittal Letter and document. 

This document and transmittal letter were also sent to: 
paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty .gov 
dennis.mccurdy@kingcounty.gov 


